
 

 

 
 
Notice of a public meeting of  

Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee 
 
To: Councillors Lisle (Chair), Funnell (Vice-Chair), Boyce, 

Cullwick, Douglas, Hayes, Hunter, Mason, Mercer, 
Pavlovic, Reid, Richardson, D Taylor, K Taylor and Wells 
 

Date: Monday, 16 July 2018 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare: 

 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
 

which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so.  The deadline 
for registering is 5:00 pm on Friday, 13 July 2018. 
 
Filming or Recording Meetings 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be filmed and webcast, or recorded, including any registered 
public speakers who have given their permission. This broadcast 
can be viewed at http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts


 

Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting e.g. tweeting.  Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officer (whose contact details are 
at the foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at 
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_f
or_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_201
60809.pdf 
 

3. Unmet Demand Survey   (Pages 1 - 68) 
 This report asks Members to consider the findings of a recent 

unmet demand survey relating to the provision of hackney 
carriage services in the council’s area, and decide whether to 
maintain or review the existing policy on the issuing of licences. 
 

4. Any other business which the Chair considers 
urgent under the  Local Government Act 1972   

 

 

http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf


 

Democratic Services 

 Telephone – (01904) 551088 

 E-mail – democratic.services@york.gov.uk 
 
For more information about any of the following please contact  
Democratic Services: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

mailto:a.bielby@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



c  

 
 

 
Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee 
 

16 July 2018 

Report from the Assistant Director – Planning and Public Protection  
 

Unmet Demand Survey  
 
Summary 
 
1. This report asks Members to consider the findings of a recent unmet 

demand survey carried out within the authority area, relating to the 
provision of the hackney carriage service, and to consider the two 
options with regard to hackney carriage vehicle licence numbers.  This 
relates to motorised hackney carriages only.   
 

Recommendations 
 
2. That Members consider Best Practice Guidance issued by the 

Department for Transport and the findings of the unmet demand survey, 
which can be found at Annex 1, and determined which one of the 
following two options to adopt:  

 
1. Status quo: to maintain the existing policy unchanged, restricting the 

number of hackney carriage vehicle licences issued to the current 
level. 
 

2. To consider reviewing the existing policy on the issue of hackney 
carriage vehicle licences. 

 
Should Members be minded to consider reviewing the existing policy, a 
consultation should be carried out with all current stakeholders and the 
public in that process.   

  
Reason: In accordance with Best Practice this report asked Members to 
firstly consider the benefits and disadvantages of setting quantity 
restrictions.  Also in accordance with Best Practice, as the Council 
currently restricts the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences 
issued, an unmet demand survey has been undertaken to determine if 
there is no significant unmet demand.   

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Background 
 

Legal Requirements and Department for Transport Best Practice 
Guidance 

 
3. Provisions within Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 allow local 

authorities to set quantity restrictions  on the number of licences issued 
in relation to hackney carriage vehicles (taxis), but only if it is satisfied 
that there is no significant unmet demand for taxi services in its area.  

 
4. Department for Transport (DfT) Best Practice Guidance, issued in 

March 2010, advises that most local licensing authorities do not impose 
quantity restrictions; and they regard this as best practice.  The 
Guidance recommends that authorities, where restrictions are in place, 
regularly reconsider this matter.    The Guidance asks local licensing 
authorities to consider the benefits or disadvantages to the travelling 
public (users of taxis) from having quantity restrictions in place; and 
what the benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the 
quantity restrictions where removed.  

 
 City of York Current Provision 
 
5. City of York Council (the Council) currently restricts (regulates) the 

number of taxi licences issued.  At this time there are 183 licensed 
vehicles, of which 45 are wheelchair accessible (by condition of 
licence).    

 
Unmet Demand 

 
6. A licensing authority may limit the number of taxis in its area provided 

that it is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of 
taxis which is unmet.  As the Council regulates the number of licences, 
which is not considered best practice, the Council has to demonstrate 
there is no unmet demand in accordance with guidance issued by the 
DfT. To this end, an unmet demand survey is carried out once every 
three years.   The purpose of the survey is to determine whether there 
is any evidence of significant unmet demand for taxi services in the 
Council’s area and if any unmet demand is found, to recommend how 
many licences would be required to meet this.  

 
7. The last survey was carried out in 2014.  At that time the survey 

identified that there was no evidence of significant unmet demand for 

Page 2



taxis in York. The full results of the survey were brought to this 
committee on 20 October 2014.   

 
 Current Policy 
 
8. At a meeting on the 20 October 2014 this Committee resolved that no 

new hackney carriage vehicle licences are issued, and that a further 
unmet demand survey is carried out in three years time.  For the reason 
that the 2014 unmet demand survey has identified that there is no 
evidence of significant unmet demand.   

 
 Unmet Demand Survey  
 
9. Following the formal tendering process Licensed Vehicle Surveys and 

Assessment (LVSA) was engaged by the Council in May 2017 to 
undertake the independent survey.   

 
10. LVSA conducted a rank observation survey during October 2017.     

Some 5,848 hires were observed over three days.   
 
11. It should be noted that the rank survey was conducted during a 

weekend when a race meeting was taking place at York Racecourse.  
The consensus view from the trade and stakeholders was that a race 
weekend generates exceptionally high levels of demand for taxis.  This 
is reflected within LVSA report.   

 
12. This survey has identified that there is no evidence of significant unmet 

demand for taxis in York.  A full copy of the survey can be found at 
Annex 1.  A representative from LVSA will be present at the meeting to 
answer any questions relating to the survey.   

 
 Proposed Policy for New Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences  
 
13. Taking into consideration the findings of the survey, if the Council is 

satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand it is able to continue 
to restrict to the current level the number of taxi licences issued.  A 
further independent unmet demand survey will be carried out in three 
years time.  Alternatively, should Members be minded to consider 
reviewing the existing policy on the issues of taxi licences and whether 
to allow for an increase beyond the current number (which may include 
complete removal of quantity controls) a period of consultation should 
be undertaken to get the views of stakeholders and members of the 
public as to whether to implement an alternative policy for the issue of 

Page 3



taxi licences.  In any consideration of whether to review the Council’s 
existing policy, Members are reminded that the Council retains the 
discretion to maintain the restriction on the number of licensed taxis or 
not.  Should Members decide to undertake a consultation a further 
report will be provided to Members to consider the responses and make 
a further recommendation for the issue of taxi licences, supported by 
evidence.   

 
Allocation of New Licences  

 
14. Since 1996 the Council has operated a waiting list for those who would 

wish to obtain a taxi licence, should any be issued in the future.  There 
are currently 128 persons on the list.   

 
15. The person named at number one on the list will be offered the next 

available taxi licence.  Their name will then be removed from the list 
whether they proceed to obtain a vehicle licence or not.   

  
Consultation 
 
16. As part of the survey LVSA carried out a public attitude survey.  A total 

of 200 interviews were undertaken throughout the licensed area.  A 
questionnaire was published online to offer the general public an 
opportunity to provide views of licensed vehicles service provision.  A 
total of 25 responses were received from members of the public.  
Survey results are detailed in Section 4 of LVSA report.   

 
17. LVSA also complied with the DfT guidelines and consulted key 

stakeholders:  
 

 Supermarkets 

 Hotels 

 Individual pubs / nightclubs 

 Other entertainment venues 

 Restaurants 

 Hospitals 

 Police 

 Disability representatives 

 Rail operators 

 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 
 

Page 4



18. Stakeholders were contacted by telephone, email or letter.  Responses 
received are detailed in Section 5 of LVSA report.   

 
Options 
 
19. Members need to consider whether or not they are minded to continue 

with the policy of restricting the number of hackney carriage vehicle 
licences, by choosing one of the following options.  

 
20. Option 1 – Continue to apply the existing policy, that no new taxi 

licences are issued, restricting the number of licences issued to the 
current level, based on the latest unmet demand survey, and require 
that a further unmet demand survey is carried out in three years time. 
This is maintaining the status quo. 

 
21. Option 2 – Ask Officers to undertake a consultation with stakeholders 

and the pubic as to whether the existing policy of restricting the number 
of taxi licences should be retained or changed to either set a different 
level or remove the limit, with a view to reporting back to members at 
the earliest opportunity with the result of the consultation and further 
recommendation.  Further details as to how this consultation would be 
undertaken can be found at paragraph 41. 

 
Analysis 
 
22. The council has appointed 17 taxi ranks, 15 of which are within the 

vicinity of the city centre: 
  

Rank Location Rank Operating Times No. of Cars   
Duncombe Place Fulltime 10 
Queen Street Fulltime 4 
St Leonard’s Place Fulltime  4 
St Saviourgate – Rank A Fulltime 12  
St Saviourgate – Rank B (feeder) Fulltime  4 
The Crescent  Fulltime 1 
Tower Street Fulltime  3 
Clifford Street (Kuda side) Midnight – 6.00 am 4 
Clifford Street (opposite side to Kuda) Midnight – 6.00 am 4 
Micklegate (outside Jalou) Midnight – 6.00 am 5 
Toft Green (opposite Fibbers) Midnight – 6.00 am 3 
Exhibition Square 8.00 pm – 6.00 am 3 
Piccadilly  11.00 am – 6.00 am 2 
St Sampson’s Square 8.00 pm – 6.00 am 8 

  
 The two ranks outside of the city centre are located at: 

Page 5



  
Rank Location Rank Operating Times No. of Cars   
Clifton Moor Cinema Fulltime 3 
York Racecourse (race days only)  12 

 
23. The rank located at the Railway Station is a private rank and is outside 

of the control of the council.  
 
24. As part of the rank observation LVSA recorded 9,049 vehicles departing 

from ranks.  Approximately 25% of these vehicles appeared to be 
wheelchair accessible.   

 
25. The busiest appointed ranks are Duncombe Place and St Saviourgate.  

Peak activity on Duncombe Place rank was on the Friday evening at 
116 hires per hour.  Peak activity on St Saviourgate rank was on a 
Saturday evening at 65 hires per hour.   

 
26. As part of the public attitude survey, 200 respondents were asked if the 

hackney carriage service in York could be improved, 76.7% said no, 
23.3% said yes.  The following are the improvements they would like to 
see: 

 
 Better night ranks      - 3.57% 
 Better reliability      - 3.57% 
 Improved driving skills     - 3.57% 
 Less over ranking     - 7.14% 
 More taxis available at the station rank  - 14.29% 
 More ranks in town centre    - 10.71% 
 More vehicles available    - 25% 
 Cheaper fares      - 21.43% 
 Shorter waiting times     - 7.14% 
 Publicise rank locations    - 3.57% 
 
27. The 200 respondents were asked to rate four elements from their most 

recent trip on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 being very poor, 5 being very good), 
responses are as follows: 

 

  1 2 3 4 5 

Vehicle Quality   0% 0.5% 5% 59.5% 35% 

Driver  0% 1% 8.5% 52% 38.5% 

Price  1.5% 3.5% 28.5% 52% 14.5% 

Customer Service 0% 0.5% 8.5% 58% 33% 

  

Page 6



28. Respondents were asked if they felt safe using taxis, 98.5% said they 
felt safe during the day (before 6.00 pm), 1% did not know and 1 
respondent felt safe at times.  83.5% felt safe using taxi during the night 
(after 6.00 pm), 10.5% did knot know how they felt, 4.5% felt safe at 
times and 1.5% did not feel safe using taxis at night.   

 
29. Respondents were asked if there were any locations in York where new 

ranks are needed.  51.7% said no new ranks were needed, 35.3% said 
they did not know.  Of the 13% of respondents who stated they would 
like to see a new rank the most common locations included: 

 

 Marks and Spencer 

 Nightclub areas 

 Piccadilly 

 Town centre 

 Minster 
 
30. Members should note that as detailed in paragraph 21 there are 

currently ranks in the vicinity of Marks and Spencer on Piccadilly at St 
Saviourgate, there are ranks in the vicinity of licensed premises on 
Clifford Street, Rougier Street and Micklegate, there are a number of 
ranks in the town centre, and there is a rank on Duncombe Place in the 
vicinity of the Minster.  These responses highlight the fact that all of our 
ranks are not clearly visible, either by signage or road markings, this is 
a matter that officers are looking to address, it also shows that hackney 
carriage vehicles do not regularly rank at all of the available ranks 
around the city.   

 
31. The 25 online respondents were also asked to rate four elements from 

their most recent trip on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 being very poor, 5 being 
very good), responses are as follows: 

 

  1 2 3 4 5 

Vehicle Quality   4% 0% 52% 28% 16% 

Driver  4% 8% 44% 24% 20% 

Price  28% 12% 40% 16% 4% 

Customer Service 4% 4% 44% 36% 12% 

 
32. Some responses received from stakeholders were as follows: 
 

o Supermarkets – indicated that the Freephones in supermarkets or 
mobile phones are generally used to book travel by licensed 

Page 7



vehicles.  Some customer service desks did occasionally phone a 
private hire company for a customer. 
 

o Hotels – some did say that they worked with or had an account with 
a private hire operator.   

 
o Public houses – indicated that customers generally managed to 

obtain a vehicle when they needed one.  At closing time there can 
sometimes be a longer wait time for a vehicle.   

 
o Disability groups – no issues identified.  Care homes contacted 

indicated that they can relatively easily book vehicles as and when 
required. 

 
o Rail and other transport operators – railway station staff indicated 

that there were always taxis coming in to pick up passengers, 
however after some trains the number of passengers could take all 
of the waiting taxi and those passengers who arrive last at the rank 
may have to wait for more taxis to arrive at the rank. 

 
o Businesses – it was felt that availability was generally good, with 

occasions when passengers had to wait at busy times.  The drivers 
and vehicles were generally well regarded and were generally good 
ambassadors for York.   

 
33. Some responses from trade stakeholders were as follows: 
 

o A commonly identified issue was a perception amongst the trade that 
a number of out of town licensed vehicles were operating in York, as 
private hire vehicles.  Many of these operated under the Uber brand.  
It was felt that the influx of Uber vehicles has had an impact on the 
licensed trade in York.  

 
o A significant proportion of the hackney carriage fleet cannot access 

the Railway Station rank.  This is the busiest rank, especially during 
the day time.  The view was expressed that as Station Taxis fulfil 
private hire bookings, albeit with hackney carriages, this can lead to 
some hackney carriages sent to other locations to pick up instead of 
servicing the Railway Station rank.  This practice can lead to 
passenger queues forming at this rank.   

 

Page 8



o Many elderly passengers don’t like wheelchair accessible vehicles 
as they find them difficult to get in and out, and are uncomfortable to 
sit in on journeys.  They often prefer saloon type vehicles.   

 
o Student pick ups affect the trade as students arrange to pick up 

other students after a night out for payment.  Often arranged through 
social media.   

 
o Perceived lack of enforcement by licensing staff.  With little visible 

policing of the ranks and activity outside night spots by private hire 
vehicles, it was felt that some private hire vehicles have been waiting 
near clubs and busy ranks and accepting walk up hires without pre-
booking.   

 
o Parked vehicles on the Toft Green rank means that this rank cannot 

be used to service the nearby licensed premises. 
 

o Some frustration regarding lack of availability of hackney carriage 
plates for some drivers.  The view was expressed that additional 
plates should be issued, but limited to wheelchair accessible 
vehicles and limited to licensed drivers who don’t already hold a 
plate.   

 
o Rank survey undertaken on race meeting weekend – various 

comments received indicated that the level of demand at this period 
was significantly higher than a normal weekend.  Whilst there are 
many events in York throughout the year it is widely recognised that 
the impact of a race meeting is generally higher that for other events.   

 
o There were differing opinions regarding how the trade responded to 

the additional demand by a race weekend.  Some indications were 
that some drivers would work significantly longer hours during the 
Friday and Saturday. Other suggestions indicated that some drivers 
preferred to not work during a race meeting as they would prefer to 
avoid the congestion.   

 
Community Safety Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Task Group  

 
34. In 2011 a Task Group of the Community Safety Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee undertook at Taxi Licensing Review.  The findings of this 
review where presented to this Committee on 11 July 2011.  The 
recommendation of the review was that the Council restricts the number 

Page 9



of taxi licences issued and undertake unmet demand surveys in line 
with DfT Best Practice recommendations.    

 
Benefits of Quantity Restrictions  

 
35. There are benefits for restricting the number of taxi licences issued.  

Due to the geography of York the benefits for relate to managing 
congestion around the city centre, preventing over ranking at the limited 
number of designated rank spaces available and prevents unofficial 
ranks been formed.  All of which will add to poor air quality issues 
already experience across the city.   

 
 Disadvantages of Quantity Restrictions  
 
36. There are also disadvantages when restricting the number of taxi 

licences issued.  In most cases where quantity restrictions are imposed, 
vehicle licences command a premium, often in tens of thousands of 
pounds; this is the case in York.  This indicates that there are people 
who want to enter the taxi market and provide a service to the public, 
but who are being prevented from doing so by the quantity restrictions.  
This is also demonstrates by the fact that in York we have a waiting list 
of people wanting a taxi licence.   

 
37. It has been found in previous years when the Council, following the 

recommendations of an unmet demand survey, has determined to grant 
a recommended number of taxi licences to the person(s) who was 
position at the top of the waiting list, that within a short period of time 
after the taxi licence has been issued the licence holder has transferred 
the licence to another person.  As stated in paragraph 36 vehicles 
licences command a premium, therefore the person(s) on the waiting 
list has not wanted a licence to provide a service to the public they have 
wanted a licence to sell on ‘to make a profit’.    

 
 North and West Yorkshire Authorities Provisions  
 
38. The table below details the number of taxi and private hire vehicles 

licences issued by each authority, and whether the authority restricts 
the number of taxi licences issued.   

 

 

 Restrict Don’t Restrict Taxis PH 
vehicles 

% of licensed 
fleet taxis  

Craven   √ not 
available 

  

Page 10



Hambleton   √ 108 25 81% 

Harrogate √  148 287 34% 

Richmond  √ 77 10 88.5% 

Ryedale   √ 42 63 40% 

Scarborough  √  105 207 33.6% 

Selby  √ 102 110 48% 

      

York √  183 607 23% 

      

Bradford √  222 3200 6.5% 

Calderdale √ inner zone  37 928 8.7% 

Calderdale  √ outer zone 52   

Kirklees √  not 
available 

  

Leeds √  536 4470 10.7% 

Wakefield  √  110 1113 9% 

 
 Option 1  
 
39. The status quo option will maintain the current situation as it stands.  If 

Members determine to retain the existing policy and restrict the number 
of taxi licences issued a further unmet demand survey would be 
required in 2020.  No changes would be required to the current Taxi 
Licensing Policy.      

 
40. On the basis of the evidence gathered in the unmet demand survey 

referred to in this report, the conclusion is that there is no evidence of 
any unmet demand for the services of taxis which is significant at this 
point in time in the Council’s licensing area.  The Committee is therefore 
able to exercise its discretion to retain the current vehicle limit policy 
and maintain it at the present level.  In the event of a challenge to a 
decision to refuse a licence, the Council would have to prove that it had, 
reasonably, been satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand.   

 
 Option 2 
 
41. Deregulating the number of taxi licences issued or increasing the 

current limit would be considered to be changes to the current Taxi 
Licensing Policy; that would require consultation to inform any further 
recommendation on the options for the issuing of taxi licences.    As 
part of the consultation consideration would need to be given to the type 
of vehicle that would be granted a licence if Members in due course 
determine to deregulate or increase the existing limit.  A further unmet 
demand survey would be required in 2020 should the policy be changed 
to set a different limit, as the Council would still be restricting the 

Page 11



number of taxi licences issued.  In any review of the existing policy, the 
Council retains the discretion to maintain a restriction on the number of 
licensed taxis or not.  Final approval of any changes to the Taxi 
Licensing Policy would have to be given by the Councils Executive.   

 
42. Members also need to determine that if they are minded to review the 

existing policy, the current policy remains in place, that no new taxi 
licences are issued, until such a time that a consultation has taken 
place as part of a review of the Taxi Licensing Policy and all relevant 
approvals are in place.   

 
Council Priorities 
 
43. The provision of hackney carriage and private hire licensing supports 

the council plan of a prosperous city for all, where local businesses can 
thrive.     

 
Implications 
 
44. The direct implications arising from this report are: 
 

(a) Financial – The cost of consultation will be met from existing 
budgets.   

 
(b) Human Resources (HR) - There are no HR implications. 
 
(c) Equalities – There are no equalities implications.  Approximately 

25% of the current hackney carriage fleet are wheelchair 
accessible vehicles.  

 
(d) Legal – Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 gives local authorities 

the power to limit the number of taxi licences provided that the local 
authority is satisfied that there is no significant demand for taxis 
which is unmet in its area.  DfT guidance requires that local 
authorities which retain quantity controls carry out unmet demand 
surveys at least every three years to establish if there is any level 
of unmet demand.  Should the Council carry out an unmet demand 
survey and find no significant unmet demand then it could lawfully 
retain quantity controls.  The Council could be at risk of legal 
challenge if it does not follow the best practice guidance issued by 
the DfT and undertake an unmet demand survey at least once 
every three years, so long as it wishes to restrict the number of 
hackney carriage vehicle licences issued.   

Page 12



 
(e) Crime and Disorder – There are no crime and disorder 

implications.  
 

(f) Information Technology (IT) - There are no IT implications. 
 
(g) Property - There are no property implications. 
 
(h) Other - There are no other implications. 
 

Risk Management 
 
45. By undertaking an unmet demand survey, in line with best practice 

guidance, will mitigate the risk of legal challenge. 
 

 
Contact Details 
 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Lesley Cooke 
Licensing Manager 
01904 551515 
 
 

Mike Slater 
Assistant Director – Planning and Public 
Protection  
 

Report 
Approved 

√ 
Date 04/07/18  

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
Sandra Branigan  
Senior Solicitor 
Ext: 1040  

Wards Affected:   All √ 

 

For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
Background papers 
 
Department for Transport – Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Best Practice 
Guidance  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
licensing-best-practice-guidance 
 
Annex 1 – Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey  

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

City of York Council 

February 2018 

 

 

Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

Page 15



 

 

i York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank 

  

Page 16



 

 

ii York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey has been undertaken on 

behalf of City of York Council, following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT 

Best Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to 

unmet demand. 

The council maintains a limit regarding the number of hackney carriages 

which may be licensed. York City has a limit of 183 of Hackney Carriages.   

Data has been collected through consultation with key stakeholders, the 

trade and members of the public.  In addition, observations of activity at 

taxi ranks were undertaken to record volumes of hackney carriages and 

passengers using each rank and whether any passengers had to wait for 

hackney carriages to arrive at the ranks. 

The greatest number of hires were observed at the Railway Station rank.  

this rank is restricted and not all of the Hackney Carriage drivers are 

permitted to service this rank.  At the railway station, only Hackney 

Carriages working through Station Taxis are permitted to operate from the 

railway station rank.  Station Taxis also undertake private hire work and 

some of this work is assigned to Hackney Carriages working with this 

operator.  As a result, at busy times, some Hackney Carriages can be 

engaged on pre-booked hires and consequently are not available to pick up 

from the Railway Station rank.   

The maximum aggregate vehicle queue across all of the ranks was 38 

Hackney Carriages, on Friday evening, equating to 21% of the fleet.  When 

we include vehicles which have picked up passengers, plus those waiting at 

the ranks, the maximum number of Hackney Carriages working from the 

ranks was estimated to be 106, on Friday night during the hour beginning 

23:00.  This equates to 58% of the Hackney Carriage fleet.  On Saturday 

night, the maximum estimated number of Hackney Carriages operating 

from the ranks was 87 (48% of the fleet).  Normally, demand for licensed 

vehicles is highest on a Saturday night.  However, in York, the level of 

demand observed between 22:00 on Saturday to 03:00 on Sunday, was 

lower than the same period on Friday night.   

The number of hires observed over the three days of rank surveys, was 

5,848.  This equates to approximately 32 hires per vehicle in the fleet over 

the three days.   

Passenger waiting was observed extensively at Duncombe Place, St 

Saviourgate and York Station ranks.  Passenger waiting occurred at various 

times of day and night and was not confined to peak periods of Friday or 

Saturday night.  31% of all passengers had to wait for a Hackney Carriage 

to arrive at a rank.  Public Attitude interviews were undertaken and one of 

the elements of the interview indicated that 18.5% of respondents had 

given up trying to hire a Hackney Carriage at a rank.   

Page 17



 

 

iii York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Passenger waiting at ranks is an indication of patent unmet demand and 

the responses from the public regarding the proportion who had given up 

waiting at a rank, is an indication of latent unmet demand.  The levels of 

patent and latent unmet demand were relatively high. 

It should be noted that the rank surveys were conducted during a weekend 

when a race meeting was taking place at York Racecourse.  The consensus 

view from the trade and stakeholders was that a race weekend generates 

exceptionally high levels of demand for Hackney Carriages.  As such, we 

can consider the assessment of the level of patent unmet demand from rank 

observations as a worst case.  Generally, during other busy weekends 

throughout the year, we would anticipate lower levels of activity and lower 

levels of passenger waiting. 

Types of passenger waiting varied at different times for the ranks where 

waiting was observed.  At some times, periodic waiting was observed, when 

passengers arrived at the rank and there were not Hackney Carriages 

waiting and there was no queue of passengers waiting.  However, at other 

times, persistent queueing occurred.  These were occasions when 

passengers arrived at the rank to join an existing queue of passengers 

waiting for Hackney Carriages to arrive at the ranks.  At each of the ranks 

where passenger waiting was observed, passenger waiting varied between 

periodic waiting and persistent queuing.  Persistent queuing occurred at 

various times during daytime, evening and night time at each of the three 

ranks where passenger waiting was most common.  The majority of 

passenger waiting was observed at the Railway Station rank.  Also, the 

majority of Latent Unmet Demand indicated from the Public Attitude 

surveys, was related to the Railway Station rank. 

Whilst there was indication of patent and latent unmet demand, there was 

little feedback from stakeholders to indicate that they perceived any 

significant issues with the service provided by Hackney Carriages.  Many 

stakeholders who use or represent users of licensed vehicles indicated that 

a significant proportion of demand is serviced through advanced booking, 

as opposed to rank hires.   

Feedback from the trade indicated that pre-booked hires were being 

serviced by Hackney Carriages, which normally service the Railway Station 

rank.  This practice was limiting the availability of Hackney Carriages at the 

Railway Station rank at some times, including peak periods.   

A calculation was undertaken to determine whether the levels of patent and 

latent unmet demand were deemed to be significant.  The Index of 

Significant Unmet Demand (ISUD) derives variables from the passenger 

volumes at different times of day and the levels of patent and latent unmet 

demand relative to passenger volumes, together with the profile of demand 

and any seasonality factors, to calculate an index value.  Where the value 

exceeds 80, this is commonly held to be the threshold value above which 

Page 18



 

 

iv York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

unmet demand is deemed to be significant.  For this survey the ISUD value 

calculated across all ranks was 272.  This value is above the threshold which 

suggests that significant unmet demand exists.  However, a significant 

proportion of patent and latent unmet demand occurred at the Railway 

Station.  This rank is limited by the arrangement between the railway 

operating company and Station Taxis.  Any increase in Hackney Carriages 

in the fleet would not have a direct influence on the availability of Hackney 

Carriages at the Railway Station.  Therefore it is prudent to consider the 

level of unmet demand across all ranks, excluding any which are restricted 

to a subset of the trade.  Therefore, the ISUD value was also calculated 

across all ranks excluding the Railway Station rank.   

At the public ranks, which exclude the Railway Station rank, the ISUD value 

was 70.  This value falls below the threshold for which the level of unmet 

demand is generally considered to be significant. 

Taking the ISUD value across all public ranks, together with the view that 

the survey dates reflected a worst case test of the capacity of the fleet and 

for most of the year the index value would be lower, it is concluded that 

there is no significant unmet demand. 

The operational constraints at the Railway Station rank appear to 

exacerbate incidences of passenger waiting at the rank.  This has lead to 

public perception of lower availability of Hackney Carriages at the rank.  In 

turn, perceived lack of availability may encourage passengers to pre-book 

a licensed vehicle whilst travelling on a train to the station, for pickup on 

arrival. 

With respect to the general perception of quality and availability of Hackney 

Carriages, the view of the public is that vehicle and driver quality is 

generally good or very good.  Aside from availability at the Railway Station 

rank, levels of latent unmet demand are normal in comparison with most 

fleets. 

There is no need to increase the number of Hackney Carriage plates to cater 

for general levels of demand.  However, the operators and members of the 

trade operating from the Railway Station may wish to consider measures to 

more adequately service demand and hence maintain market share 

compared with Private Hire Vehicles. 

 

  

Page 19



 

 

v York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank 

Page 20



 

 

vi York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................ ii 

Contents ..................................................................... vi 

1 General introduction and background .......... 1 

2 Local background and context ........................ 4 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 6 

4 General public views ......................................... 12 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ........................ 20 

6 Trade stakeholder views ................................. 22 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance ..... 24 

8 Summary and study conclusions ................. 29 

9 Recommendations ............................................. 31 

Appendix A Rank Survey Data ...................................... 32 

 

Page 21



Page left intentionally blank 

  

Page 22



 

 

1 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
City of York Council is responsible for the licensing of Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing 

authority for this complete area. It retains a limit on the number of Hackney 

Carriage vehicles licensed. There is no legal means by which either Private 

Hire Vehicle numbers, private hire or Hackney Carriage driver numbers, or 

the number of private hire operators can be limited. DfT sources suggest 

this limit has been in place since 1999. Prior to this survey, previous tests 

of the validity of the limit and its level were undertaken in 2014, 2011 2008, 

2005, 2002, 1998 and 1993.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance 

produced by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to 

provide information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the 

Transport Act 1985 “that the grant of a Hackney Carriage vehicle licence 

may be refused if, but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there 

is no significant demand for the services of Hackney Carriages within its 

local area, which is unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no 

SUD”. 

Current Hackney Carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 

within the legal frameworks set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847. This 

has been amended by various following legislation including the Transport 

Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to Hackney Carriage vehicle limits, and by 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 with reference 

to Private Hire Vehicles and operations. Many of the aspects of these laws 

have been tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more 

importantly through case law. Beyond legislation, the experience of the 

person in the street tends to see both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try for the sake of clarity to use 

only in its generic sense within the report. We will use the term ‘licensed 

vehicles’ to refer to both Hackney Carriage and private hire. 

The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of 

many attempts at review. The limiting of Hackney Carriage vehicle numbers 

has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 

practice and against natural economic trends. The three most recent 

reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through the production 

of the BPG in 2010, and the Law Commission review which published its 

results in 2014. None of these resulted in any material change to the 

legislation involved in licensing. 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

 

2 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

The upshot of all these reviews in respect of the principal subject of this 

survey is that local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of 

Hackney Carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusion included 

retention of the power to limit Hackney Carriage vehicle numbers but 

utilizing a public interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also 

suggested the three- year horizon also be used for rank reviews and 

accessibility reviews. 

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 

Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be 

evaluated and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool 

was taken forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over 

time this ‘index of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted 

as an industry standard tool to be used for this purpose. Some revisions 

have been made following the few but specific court cases where various 

parties have challenged the policy of retaining a limit. Some of the 

application has differed between Scottish and English authorities due to 

some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the duty of the 

licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales. 

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 

restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and 

then review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to 

a summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England 

and Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 

should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 

encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is 

commonly regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. 

BPG suggests key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at 

ranks, for street hailing and telephone bookings, latent and peaked 

demand, wide consultation and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have 

been enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs 

(sections 168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the 

Deregulation Act which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of 

period each license covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across 

borders (enacted in October 2015), and most recently enactment of 

Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see 

below). 

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting 

Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles 

capable of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council 

(section 167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under 

section 165 to:  

Page 24



 

 

3 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 

- Not make any additional charge for doing so 

- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel 

chair 

- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 

carried in safety and reasonable comfort  

- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably 

required 

This was enacted from April 2017. There remains no confirmation of any 

timetable for instigating either the remainder of the Equality Act or the Law 

Commission recommendations, or for the update of the BPG. 

In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent 

cases were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) 

concluded authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand 

as a whole, not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in 

every limited area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the 

area as a whole. 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 

suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates 

only to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand 

includes inappropriately met demand (taken by Private Hire Vehicles in 

situations legally Hackney Carriage opportunities) or those forced to use 

less satisfactory methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those 

observed to walk away from rank locations).  

In general, the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet 

demand must take into account the practicability of improving the standard 

of service through the increase of supply of vehicles. It is also important to 

have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for the same authority 

over time. 

In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-

paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 

vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 

public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 

jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers.  

These are split between Hackney Carriages which are alone able to wait at 

ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire 

who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any 

passenger uses a Private Hire Vehicle without such a properly made 

booking, they are not insured for their journey. 

  

Page 25



 

 

4 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
The authority has a current population of 208,367 using the 2016 estimates 

currently available from the 2011 census.  

All licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles, drivers 

and operators serving people within their area. City of York Council has 

chosen to utilize its power to limit Hackney Carriage vehicle numbers. 

City of York Council undertakes regular review of its policy to limit 

Hackney Carriage vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. Previous surveys 

were undertaken in1993, 1998, 2002 and then every three years to date. 

Figure 1 illustrates the fleet composition for the licensing authorities in the 

Yorkshire and The Humber Region (as defined by the DfT).  The authority 

statistics are grouped by whether the authority limits the number of 

Hackney Carriages or does not limit.  Within these groups, the authorities 

are arranged in order of increasing licensed vehicles per 1,000 population. 

 

Figure 1 - Comparison of Licensed Vehicles per 1,000 population 

Private Hire and Taxi Monthly magazine publish monthly league tables of 
the fares in Licensing Authorities in the UK.  The Tariff 1 fares for a two mile 

journey (distance costs only) are compared and ranked.  The higher the 

ranking, the more expensive the journey, compared with other authorities.  

The November 2017 table indicated that the fares in York were ranked 54 

out of 368 authorities listed.  This suggests that fares in York are more 

expensive than average. 
 

  

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

B
ar

n
sl

e
y

 [
Li

m
it

e
d

]

R
o

th
e

rh
am

 [L
im

it
ed

]

N
or

th
 E

as
t L

in
co

ln
sh

ir
e 

[L
im

it
ed

]

W
ak

ef
ie

ld
 [

Li
m

it
ed

]

Yo
rk

 [L
im

it
ed

]

Ca
ld

er
d

al
e 

[L
im

it
ed

]

Sh
ef

fi
el

d 
[L

im
it

ed
]

K
in

g
st

o
n

 u
p

o
n

 H
u

ll,
 C

it
y

 o
f 

[L
im

it
e

d
]

Ki
rk

le
e

s 
[L

im
it

ed
]

B
ra

d
fo

rd
 [

Li
m

it
ed

]

Le
e

ds
 [L

im
it

ed
]

Ea
st

 R
id

in
g 

of
 Y

or
ks

h
ire

 [
N

o 
Li

m
it

]

Se
lb

y 
[N

o 
Li

m
it

]

D
o

nc
as

te
r 

[N
o 

Li
m

it
]

N
or

th
 L

in
co

ln
sh

ir
e 

[N
o 

Li
m

it
]

Comparison of Licensed Vehicles per 1,000 population

Hackney Carriages per 1,000 population Private Hire Vehicles per 1,000 population

Page 26



 

 

5 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

A comparison of the fares ranking of neighbouring authorities is presented 

in Table 1 
 

Table 1 - Comparison of Hackney Carriage fares ranks in adjacent 
authorities 

Local Authority Rank 

York 54 

Harrogate 62 

Selby 178 

Ryedale 198 

Hambleton 244 

East Riding of Yorkshire 298 
 

  

Page 27



 

 

6 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
The active ranks in the survey area were surveyed to determine whether 

there was any evidence of patent unmet demand.  Hackney Carriages are 

restricted with respect to which ranks they may wait at.   

Appendix 2 provides a list of ranks at the time of this current survey. 

York ranks 

Overview of observations 

During the course of our survey, we observed some 9,049 vehicles 

departing the ranks.  Approximately 25% of these vehicles appeared to be 

wheelchair accessible vehicles.   

During the course of the surveys, 4 passengers were observed, who used 

wheelchairs. 

The levels of passenger activity at the ranks were analysed and the graph 

presented below summarises the profile of activity across all of the ranks. 

 

Figure 2 - York passengers through each rank 

 

St Sampsons Square

Toft Green

Rougier Steet

St Saviourgate
Duncombe Place

York Station
0

50

100

150

200

250

Th
u

rs
d

ay
 1

4
:0

0

Th
u

rs
d

ay
 1

7
:0

0

Th
u

rs
d

ay
 2

0
:0

0

Th
u

rs
d

ay
 2

3
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 0

2
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 0

5
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 0

8
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

1
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

4
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

7
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 2

0
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 2

3
:0

0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
2

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
5

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
8

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
1

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
4

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
7

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
0

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
3

:0
0

Su
n

d
ay

 0
2

:0
0

Su
n

d
ay

 0
5

:0
0

Passenger volumes per hour

St Sampsons Square Toft Green Rougier Steet St Saviourgate Duncombe Place York Station

Page 28



 

 

7 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Figure 3 - York Hackney Carriages hired at each rank 

The length of time each Hackney Carriage waited at the ranks varied 

significantly throughout the survey period. 

 

Figure 4 - York Hackney Carriage vehicle average wait time at each rank 

 

Detailed consideration of ranks 

St Sampson’s Square 

The rank extends around two sides of the square.  The rank was observed 

for the following periods. 

• 20:00 to 05:00 on Friday 13th to Saturday 14th October 

St Sampsons Square

Toft Green

Rougier Steet

St Saviourgate

Duncombe Place
York Station

0

20

40

60

80

100

120
Th

ur
sd

ay
 1

4:
00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 1
6:

00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 1
8:

00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 2
0:

00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 2
2:

00

Fr
id

ay
 0

0:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

2:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

4:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

6
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 0

8
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

0:
00

Fr
id

ay
 1

2:
00

F
ri

d
a

y 
1

4
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

6
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

8:
00

Fr
id

ay
 2

0:
00

Fr
id

ay
 2

2:
00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
0:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
2:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
4:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
6:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
8:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
0:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
2:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
4:

00

S
at

u
rd

a
y 

1
6

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
8:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
0

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
2:

00

Su
nd

ay
 0

0:
00

Su
nd

ay
 0

2:
00

Su
nd

ay
 0

4:
00

Su
nd

ay
 0

6:
00

Hackney Carriages departing with passengers per hour

St Sampsons Square Toft Green Rougier Steet St Saviourgate Duncombe Place York Station

St Sampsons Square

Toft Green

Rougier Steet

St Saviourgate

Duncombe Place

York Station
00:00:00

00:30:00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 1
4:

00

Th
ur

sd
ay

 1
6:

00

Th
u

rs
d

ay
 1

8
:0

0

T
h

u
rs

d
ay

 2
0

:0
0

Th
ur

sd
ay

 2
2:

00

F
rid

a
y 

0
0

:0
0

Fr
id

ay
 0

2:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

4:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

6:
00

Fr
id

ay
 0

8:
00

F
ri

d
a

y 
1

0
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

2
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

4:
00

Fr
id

ay
 1

6
:0

0

Fr
id

ay
 1

8:
00

F
rid

a
y 

2
0

:0
0

Fr
id

ay
 2

2
:0

0

S
at

u
rd

a
y 

0
0

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
2

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
4:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
6

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 0
8

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
0:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
2:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
4:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
6:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 1
8:

00

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
0

:0
0

Sa
tu

rd
ay

 2
2:

00

Su
nd

ay
 0

0:
00

S
u

n
d

a
y

 0
2

:0
0

Su
nd

ay
 0

4:
00

Su
nd

ay
 0

6:
00

Hackney Carriages average vehicle wait time

St Sampsons Square Toft Green Rougier Steet St Saviourgate Duncombe Place York Station

Page 29



 

 

8 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

• 20:00 to 05:00 on Saturday 14th to Sunday 15th October 

The rank was virtually unused on both nights surveyed. 

 

Toft Green 

The rank is opposite two licensed premises and operates as a night time 

only rank.  The rank was surveyed at the following times: 

• 00:00 to 05:00 on Sunday 15th October 

The rank was not used by any Hackney Carriages or passengers during the 

period observed.  During the observed period, the rank was generally fully 

occupied by parked private vehicles.  During the observed period, several 

vehicles were observed dropping passengers outside the Fibbers Club.  

Several Private Hire Vehicles were observed picking up passengers outside 

premises along the road.  All appeared to have been pre-booked hires. 

 

Rougier Street 

The rank operates as a night time only rank and had recently been relocated 

to the East side of the street, from the previous position across the road.  

The rank was observed for the following periods. 

• 22:00 to 05:00 on Friday 13th to Saturday 14th October 

• 22:00 to 05:00 on Saturday 14th to Sunday 15th October 

The rank was busiest on Friday night, during the early hours of Saturday 

morning, with peak activity level of 16 hires per hour.  Unusually, the rank 

was busiest on Friday night, rather than Saturday night. 

 

St Saviourgate 

The rank is located along St Saviourgate, in two parts.  The rank was 

observed for the following periods. 

• 14:00 to 19:00 on Thursday 12th October 

• 13:00 to 05:00 on Friday 13th to Saturday 14th October 

• 22:00 to 05:00 on Saturday 14th to Sunday 15th October 

The rank was active on Thursday and Friday afternoons, with peak activity 

of 29 hires per hour.  During Saturday afternoon, activity levels were 

similar, with peak activity at 28 hires per hour. 

Page 30



 

 

9 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Activity levels increased significantly on Friday and Saturday night, 

compared with afternoon levels.  Peak activity on Friday night was 63 and 

the peak on Saturday night was 65 hires per hour. 

 

Duncombe Place 

The rank at Duncombe Place is located close to both retail and licensed 

premises and close to York Minster.  As such, we may expect this rank to 

service retail and tourism related demand as well as demand from the night 

time economy.  The rank was observed for the following periods. 

• 14:00 to 07:00 on Thursday 12th to Friday 13th October 

• 07:00 to 07:00 on Friday 13th to Saturday 14th October 

• 07:00 to 07:00 on Saturday 14th to Sunday 15th October 

Daytime activity levels on Thursday and Friday peaked at 12 hires per hour, 

but were commonly significantly lower for much of the day.  On Saturday 

during the day time, activity peaked at 18 hires per hour.   

Night time activity levels were significantly higher than day time levels,  on 

Thursday night, activity peaked at 44 hires per hour.  On Friday night, 

activity peaked at 116 hires per hour and on Saturday night, activity peaked 

at 84 hires per hour. 

 

York Station 

The rank at York Station is located within station property.  The rank 

comprises two parts.  The pickup area of the rank is located at the main 

station entrance, below the entrance portico.  Hackney Carriages which are 

waiting to approach the pickup area, wait within the adjacent station car 

park.  The rank is not open to all York Hackney Carriages.  Permission to 

operate from this rank is limited to Hackney Carriages affiliated with Station 

Taxis. 

The rank was observed for the following periods. 

• 14:00 to 07:00 on Thursday 12th to Friday 13th October 

• 07:00 to 01:00 on Friday 13th to Saturday 14th October 

• 07:00 to 07:00 on Saturday 14th to Sunday 15th October 

The station rank was the most consistently busy rank during the daytime 

on Thursday, Friday and Saturday.  Peak daytime activity levels were 58 

hires per hour on Thursday, 95 on Friday and 73 on Saturday.   

The station rank was also active each night that was observed.  Activity 

levels were similar to day time levels.  Peak activity was 84 hires per hour 

Page 31



 

 

10 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

on Thursday night, 95 on Friday night and 82 hires per hour on Saturday 

night. 

 

Passenger waiting and number of vehicles operating 

The number of waiting passengers during each hour observed is presented 

in Appendix A.  the majority of passengers who had to wait, waited at the 

Railway Station rank.  The Railway Station rank accounted for 

approximately 57% of all waiting passengers. 

The number of vehicles waiting at each rank was assessed.  The maximum 

number waiting, aggregated across all ranks, was 38 Hackney Carriages, 

observed at 20:35 on Friday evening.  The average number of waiting 

vehicles was calculated for each hour.  Using these statistics, together with 

sample observations of the time taken for vehicles to return to the rank, 

following a hire, the number of vehicles operating from the ranks can be 

calculated.  The estimate of number of vehicles uses the observed vehicle 

queues together with the number of hires per hour, divided by the 

estimated average time taken to return to the rank.  The maximum 

estimated proportion of the fleet operating from all of the ranks, was 58% 

of the fleet, late on Friday night. 

Detailed tables of waiting passenger numbers and Hackney Carriage waiting 

data, is presented in Appendix A. 

 

Further observations and key features from observation of the York 

ranks 

Occasional passenger waiting was observed during the daytime on Thursday 

Friday and Saturday afternoons, at Duncombe Place and St Saviourgate 

ranks.  Such occasional waiting is a common feature at ranks with low 

volumes of use.  Typically, a small number of Hackney Carriages may 

service a rank at quiet times and from time to time, the arrival pattern of 

passengers at the rank may lead to all of the waiting taxis being hired within 

a short period and additional arriving passengers having to wait for the 

Hackney Carriages to return to the rank.  During the evenings and at night, 

the level of use at these ranks increased.  Passenger waiting also occurred 

later at night during busier periods at these ranks and from time to time, 

short passenger queues formed.   

At the Railway Station rank, passenger waiting was observed at various 

times, including the busiest periods of demand at the station.  From time 

to time, continuous passenger queues formed. 

Page 32



 

 

11 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

In York the variation in demand was contrary to the classic pattern found 

in most towns and cities.  Normally, demand on a Saturday night would be 

higher than on a Friday night.  However, the reverse was true of York.   

The surveys were undertaken over a weekend when there was a race 

meeting at York Racecourse.  The attendance at the racecourse on Friday 

was approximately 10,000 visitors and on Saturday approximately 20,000 

visitors.  Feedback from the trade and from other stakeholders indicates 

that whilst there are frequently events on in York, which affect demand for 

Hackney Carriages, the occurrence of a meeting at York Racecourse ranks 

at the highest level of impact and forms the worst case that is likely to 

occur, on any weekend of the year.   

Feedback from the trade with respect to working patterns during a race 

meeting weekend, varied.  There was some indication that drivers 

responded to increased demand, by working longer hours during the race 

weekend, as there are more fares available.  This can lead to more drivers 

taking time off during the days after a race meeting, as they have earned 

more than normal during the race meeting period.  There was also some 

counter indication that some drivers take time off during a race meeting, 

to attend the races and also to avoid increased congestion in the city 

centre.  The consensus of opinion from all sources was that the levels of 

demand were exceptional during the weekend surveyed, owing to the race 

meeting.  Therefore, the results of the rank surveys should be assessed 

with this factor in mind. 

  

Page 33



 

 

12 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained 

about the service provided by Hackney Carriage and private hire. A key 

element which these surveys seek to discover is whether people have given 

up waiting for Hackney Carriages at ranks (the most readily available 

measure of latent demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with 

these surveys to identify the overall usage and views of Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire Vehicles within the study area, and to give chance for 

people to identify current issues and factors which may encourage them to 

use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 

vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 

demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 

places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify 

Hackney Carriages waiting at ranks.  

Surveys of the public were undertaken throughout the licensed area.  A 

total of 200 interviews were undertaken.   

The results of the surveys were as follows: 

York public attitude survey results 

Interviewees were asked if they had used a licensed vehicle in the last three 

months in the area. 80% said they had and 20%, of the interviewees asked 

said they had not made a trip in the last three months. 

Interviewees told us what kind of vehicle was used in their last trip. The 

most commonly used vehicle was a saloon car (66%), followed by a 

minibus/people carrier (20%) and wheelchair accessible vehicles (4%). 

10% of people asked could not recall the type of vehicle used. 

It is common for members of the public to mis-understand the differences 

in the way in which Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles may be 

hired.  It is important when assessing the results of the public attitude 

survey, to establish the level of understanding of these differences.  

Therefore, respondents were asked about the way in which different 

licensed vehicles may be hired. 

63.5% of respondents could correctly identify the differences between 

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles, while 11% could not describe 

the differences accurately.  25.5% did not know.  

The public told us the way they obtained their most recent licensed vehicle. 

The majority, 50%, hired by using a telephone, 41% obtain a vehicle from 

a rank, 6.5% hired a taxi using an app, just 1.5% hailed a taxi on the street, 

1% used a freephone to hire a licensed vehicle and one respondent had 

never used a taxi. 

Page 34



 

 

13 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

The public were asked if they were satisfied with the service they received, 

in terms of time to arrive and journey time. The majority (98.5%) were 

satisfied and just 1.5% said they were not satisfied.  

Interviewees were asked if Hackney Carriage services in York could be 

improved, most (76.7%) said no and of those 23.3% that said yes, they 

listed the following improvements they would like to see: 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the vehicle quality of their 

most recent trip. Results were: 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the driver in regard to their 

most recent trip. Results were: 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the price of their most recent 

trip. Results were: 

1 3.57%

1 3.57%

1 3.57%

2 7.14%

4 14.29%

3 10.71%

7 25.00%

6 21.43%

2 7.14%

1 3.57%

28 100.00%

Q7. WHAT IMPROVEMENTS WOULD YOU LIKE TO SEE? YORK

MORE VEHICLES AVAILABLE

CHEAPER FARES

PUBLICISE RANK LOCATIONS

TOTAL

BETTER NIGHT RANKS

BETTER RELIABILITY

IMPROVED DRIVING SKILLS

LESS OVER RANKING

MORE TAXIS AVAILABLE AT STATION RANK

MORE RANK IN TOWN CENTRE

SHORTER WAITING TIMES

0 0.00%

1 0.50%

10 5.00%

119 59.50%

70 35.00%

200 100.00%

Q8A. FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE 

VEHICLE QUALITY (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1

2

3

4

5

TOTAL

YORK

0 0.00%

2 1.00%

17 8.50%

104 52.00%

77 38.50%

200 100.00%

3

4

5

TOTAL

Q8B. FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE 

DRIVER (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1

YORK

2

Page 35



 

 

14 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the customer service of their 

most recent trip. Results were: 

 

For aspects which were rated poor or neutral, reasons for these ratings 

were: 

• To expensive (70%) 

• Irregularity between fares of Hackney Carriage companies (10%) 

• Poor vehicles (10%) 

• Moody Drivers (10%) 

98.5% of respondents felt safe using taxis during the day (before 6pm), 

just 1% did not know and 1 respondent felt safe at times. A slightly lower 

83.5% felt safe using taxis during the night (after 6pm), while 10.5% did 

not know how they felt, 4.5% felt safe at times and 1.5% did not feel safe 

using taxis at night.  

Of those who did not feel safe using taxis, at any point of the day, 

mentioned the following would make them feel safer: 

• Pre book taxi for record of journey (45%) 

• Cameras in all taxis (10%) 

• Know the company well (10%) 

• More female drivers (10%) 

• Rank stewardship (10%) 

• No more Uber operating in the area (5%) 

• Improved driving skills (5%) 

• Travelling companion (5%) 

The public were asked if there is a location in York where they would like to 

see a new rank. Just over half (51.7%) said no there is not, 35.3% said 

3 1.50%

7 3.50%

57 28.50%

104 52.00%

29 14.50%

200 100.00%

4

5

TOTAL

3

2

1

YORK

Q8C. FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE 

PRICE (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

0 0.00%

1 0.50%

17 8.50%

116 58.00%

66 33.00%

200 100.00%

YORK

3

4

5

Q8D. FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE 

CUSTOMER SERVICE (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1

2

TOTAL

Page 36



 

 

15 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

they did not know and 13% said yes there was. The following were 

suggested for new rank locations: 

 

Respondents were asked if they had ever given up or made alternative 

arrangements for obtaining a Hackney Carriage at a rank or by hailing.  For 

those respondents who indicated that they had given up or made alternative 

arrangements, we asked where this occurred.  This location aids validation 

of locations for rank based hire, i.e. to check that the locations are valid 

rank locations, rather than other locations and related to a telephone 

booking. 

18.5% of respondents indicated valid responses regarding haven given up 

trying to hire a Hackney Carriage.  The majority of these related to the 

railway station.  If we exclude the railway station, the proportion who had 

given up was 6%.  These statistics are used as indicators of latent unmet 

demand when calculating the Index of Significant Unmet Demand. 

In addition to questions regarding giving up waiting for a Hackney Carriage 

at a rank or by hailing, respondents were also asked if they had given up 

trying to hire a Hackney Carriage by telephone.  As the market for telephone 

booking can be serviced by Private Hire Vehicles, which are not limited, this 

statistic does not contribute to the assessment of latent unmet demand.  

However the statistic is collected in order to compare with the rank and 

hailing statistic.  Those who indicated they had given up waiting or given 

up trying to hire a Hackney Carriage by telephone was 6.5%. 

Finally, the respondents were asked their age and gender which are 

represented in the following tables: 

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

8 29.63%

1 3.70%

2 7.41%

1 3.70%

2 7.41%

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

1 3.70%

3 11.11%

2 7.41%

27 100.00%

STONEBOW HOUSE

THEATRE

TOFT GREEN

TOWN CENTRE

MINSTER

TOTAL

NIGHT CLUB AREA

NEW STREET

PICCADILLY

SALVATION

STATION

Q13B. IF YOU SELECTED 'YES' TO Q13A, PLEASE TELL US WHERE 

YOU WOULD LIKE TO SEE THE NEW RANK? YORK

CILFFORD TOWER

DEAN COURT

LONG STAY CAR PARK

M&S

MICKLEGATE

Page 37



 

 

16 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

 

85 42.29%

116 57.71%

201 100.00%

YORK

TOTAL

Q18. GENDER?

MALE

FEMALE

79 39.30%

60 29.85%

62 30.85%

201 100.00%

30 - 55

55 +

TOTAL

Q29. AGE? YORK

UNDER 30

Page 38



 

 

17 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Online public consultation 

A questionnaire was published online, to offer the general public an 

opportunity to provide views of licensed vehicle service provision.  The 

feedback from such questionnaires needs to be treated with some caution, 

as often the incentive for completing such a questionnaire is that it is 

regarded as an opportunity to make a complaint.  Notwithstanding this 

caution, there is much useful information which can be gained from online 

consultation of this type. 

A total of 25 responses were received from members of the public.  96% of 

respondents indicated that they had used a licensed vehicle in the last three 

months. 

Respondents where asked which type of vehicle they used during their last 

taxi trip. The most commonly used vehicle (84%) was a Saloon car, with 

minibus/people carrier and wheelchair accessible taxi vehicle with 4% of 

respondents using these as their most recent vehicle. 2 respondents did not 

recall their vehicle type.  

Respondents were asked how the obtained their most recent trip by 

Hackney Carriage or Private Hire. 41.7% hired their vehicle from a rank, 

58.3% obtained their vehicle by telephoning or using a mobile app.  

The public were asked if they were satisfied with the service they received, 

in regards to time taken and promptness. The majority were (70.8%), while 

29.2% were not happy.  

Interviewees were asked to list all the ways in which a Private hire Vehicle 

may be hired. 20% indicated an invalid method of obtaining a Private Hire 

Vehicle.  

Less than half (28%) of respondents said that Hackney Carriages could not 

be improved, but 72% of respondents said Hackney Carriage services could 

be improved. Improvements suggested are: 

• Lower pricing 

• More taxis ranks 

• Less racism 

• Be more professional 

• More availability at peak times 

• Stop when hailed on street 

• Stop complaining about Uber 

• Drivers to wear seatbelts 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the vehicle quality of their 

most recent trip. Results were: 

Page 39



 

 

18 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the driver of their most recent 

trip. Results were: 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the price of their most recent 

trip. Results were: 

 

Respondents were asked how they would rate the customer service of their 

most recent trip. Results were: 

 

Aspects, from all mentioned areas, which the interviewees rated as poor 

were, taxis turning up late and most commonly taxis too expensive in York.  

88% of respondents felt safe using taxis during the day (before 6pm), 8% 

felt safe at times and 4% did not feel safe using taxis during the day. A 

slightly lower 84% felt safe using taxis during the night (after 6pm), while 

4% did not feel safe using taxis at this time and 12% felt safe at times.  

1 4.00%

0 0.00%

13 52.00%

7 28.00%

4 16.00%

25 100.00%

1

2

3

4

5

TOTAL

YORK

 FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE VEHICLE 

QUALITY (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1 4.00%

2 8.00%

11 44.00%

6 24.00%

5 20.00%

25 100.00%

2

FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE DRIVER (1 BEING 

VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1

YORK

3

4

5

TOTAL

7 28.00%

3 12.00%

10 40.00%

4 16.00%

1 4.00%

25 100.00%

4

5

TOTAL

3

2

1

YORK

FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE PRICE (1 BEING 

VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1 4.00%

1 4.00%

11 44.00%

9 36.00%

3 12.00%

25 100.00%

YORK

3

4

5

FOR YOUR MOST RECENT TRIP, HOW WOULD YOU RATE THE CUSTOMER 

SERVICE (1 BEING VERY POOR, 5 BEING VERY GOOD)?

1

2

TOTAL

Page 40



 

 

19 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Those respondents who did not feel safe suggested the following would 

make them feel safer: 

• Not using Uber 

• Better standard of driving 

The public were asked if there are any new locations where they would like 

to see taxis ranks. Over half (56%) said there were not, 32% didn’t know 

and 12% said they would like to see ranks at the Barbican centre, Coney 

Street, Parliament Street and more in town in general.  

Finally, other comments the respondents had were: 

• They use Uber, as the prices are lower than local companies. They 

feel this is their only option as the local companies prices are too 

high, but they would prefer not to use Uber as they don’t like their 

concept.  

• Multiple comments regarding taxi fares being too high.  

• One respondent would like more Uber cars. 

• One interviewee claims the demand is not being met 

• One comment suggested banning non York registered Uber drivers 

from operating in York. 

• One member of the public is pleased with the taxi services, saying 

the Hackney Cabbies do a great job. 

 

  

Page 41



 

 

20 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 

recommendations of the BPG: 

• Supermarkets 

• Hotels 

• Individual pubs / night clubs 

• Other entertainment venues 

• Restaurants 

• Hospitals 

• Police 

• Disability representatives 

• Rail operators 

• Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 

appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. There were no 

specific cases or stakeholders with comments. The comments provided in 

the remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that 

of the authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email or letter as appropriate. 

The list contacted includes those suggested by the Council, those drawn 

from previous similar surveys, and from general internet trawls for 

information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn from 

across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 

and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 

separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views 

are summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Supermarkets 

Feedback from supermarkets indicated that Freephones in the 

supermarkets, or mobile phones were generally used to book travel by 

licensed vehicles.  None of the representatives contacted were aware of any 

notable issues with the availability of licensed vehicles for customers.  Some 

of the customer service desks did occasionally phone a private hire company 

for customers. 

Hotels 

None of the hotels contacted indicated that they had a Freephone facility 

for any particular private hire company.  However, some did say that they 

worked with or had an account with a Private Hire Operators.  No hotels 

indicated that there were any issues with availability of licensed vehicles.   

  

Public houses 

Page 42



 

 

21 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

A selection of public houses were contacted by telephone to seek their views 

on the availability of licensed vehicles.  All indicated that customers 

generally managed to obtain a vehicle when they needed one.  At closing 

time, there can sometimes be a longer wait time for a vehicle.  None of the 

respondents indicated that they were aware of any complaints by customers 

that there were any persistent problems with availability of or level of 

service provided by licensed vehicles.  Not all respondents were fully aware 

of whether customers used nearby ranks, or booked a vehicle by phone.  

Generally there was no feedback to suggest people were grumbling about 

availability. 

Night clubs 

No issues were identified by any of the clubs contacted.   

Other entertainment venues 

No issues identified.  Few venues had any awareness of what public 

transport modes visitors used. 

Restaurants 

No issues identified. 

Hospitals 

Freephone generally used if required.  Licensed vehicles frequently set down 

and pick up from the hospital.  Generally understood that patients pre-book 

most trips. 

Police 

No responses received. 

Disability 

No issues identified by disability group representatives.  Care homes 

contacted indicated that they can relatively easily book vehicles as and 

when required and no problems with arranging return travel. 

Rail and other transport operators 

No response was received from the railway operator.  However, rail station 

staff indicated that there were always taxis coming in to pick up passengers.  

However, after some trains, the number of passengers could take all of the 

waiting taxis and those passengers who arrived last at the rank, may have 

to wait for more taxis to arrive at the rank.   

Other Council contacts 

No feedback received. 

Businesses 

Feedback was limited.  It was felt that availability was generally good, with 

occasions when passengers had to wait at busy times.  The drivers and 

vehicles were generally well regarded and were generally good 

ambassadors for York.  

Page 43



 

 

22 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 

There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 

requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 

reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 

their area. 

For this survey, a consultation day workshop was held with representatives 

from the licensed vehicle trades in York.  In addition to the workshop 

session, an open invitation was made for members of the trade to provide 

any views they had.  Input was received from several members of the trade, 

in addition to views aired during the workshop meeting. 

The following views were provided by members of the trade and are not the 

opinion of LVSA. 

A commonly identified issue was a perception amongst the trade that a 

large number of ‘out of town’ licensed vehicles were operating in York, as 

Private Hire Vehicles.  Many of these vehicles operate under the Uber brand.  

It was alleged that some of the Private Hire Vehicles have been observed 

plying for hire. 

It was felt by some that a perceived influx of Uber vehicles has had an 

impact on both the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades in York. 

A significant proportion of the Hackney Carriage fleet cannot access the 

Railway Station rank.  This is the busiest rank, especially during the day 

time.  The Railway Station is a private rank operated by Station Taxis under 

an agreement with the railway operator. The view was expressed that as 

Station Taxis fulfil private hire bookings, albeit with Hackney Carriages, this 

can lead to some Hackney Carriages being sent to other locations to pick 

up, instead of servicing the Railway Station rank.  This practice can lead to 

passenger queues forming at the Railway Station rank, as the Hackney 

Carriages are booked on other jobs. 

Many elderly passengers don’t like wheelchair accessible vehicles as they 

find them difficult to get in and out and uncomfortable to sit in, on journeys.  

They often prefer saloon type vehicles. 

Student ‘pick ups’ affect the trade as students arrange to pick up other 

students after a night out, for payment.  Often arranged through social 

media. 

There is a perceived lack of enforcement by licensing staff.  With little visible 

‘policing’ of the ranks and activity outside night spots by Private Hire 

Vehicles, it was felt that some Private Hire Vehicles have been waiting near 

clubs and busy ranks and accepting walk up hires without pre-booking. 

Page 44



 

 

23 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Parked vehicles on the Toft Green rank means that this rank cannot be used 

to service the nearby licensed premises. 

There is some frustration regarding lack of availability of Hackney Carriage 

plates for some drivers.  The view was expressed that additional plates 

should be issued, but limited to wheelchair accessible vehicles and limited 

to licensed drivers who don’t already hold a plate. 

Comments relating to the timing of the rank survey 

The rank surveys were undertaken from Thursday 12th October to Sunday 

15th October 2017.  This coincided with the final race meeting of the year 

at York Race Course. 

Various comments received indicated that the level of demand at this period 

was significantly higher than a normal weekend.  Whilst there are many 

events in York throughout the year, it is widely recognised that the impact 

of a race meeting is generally higher than for other events. 

There were differing opinions regarding how the trade responded to the 

additional demand generated by a race weekend.  Some indications were 

that some drivers would work significantly longer hours during the Friday 

and Saturday.  Having earned additional income over the weekend, drivers 

may then take a couple of days off early in the following week.  Other 

suggestions indicated that some drivers preferred to not work during a race 

meeting, as they would prefer to avoid the congestion which the event 

generated on city roads. 

There was a suggestion that if the results of the rank surveys from the race 

weekend were used, they were not likely to be representative of normal 

circumstances, and some comparison observations over a neutral weekend 

should also be collected, to illustrate the likely range of conditions 

encountered by the trade. 

There was a consensus of opinion that the timing of the survey reflected a 

worst case stress test of the trade’s ability to cope with demand. 

  

Page 45



 

 

24 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 

demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a Hackney Carriage 

rank and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This 

normally leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off, 

whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later passengers may well 

arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the queue will not 

obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 

Hackney Carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such 

that it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than 

passengers can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations, 

but can also occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals 

occur. We do not consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and 

although we note this, it is not counted towards unmet demand being 

significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) 

was initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 

Transport Act as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand 

and its significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a 

university and subsequently adopted by consultants undertaking the 

surveys made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on 

Hackney Carriage vehicle numbers. The index has been developed over time 

to take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted 

as the industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet 

demand is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first 

principles identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level 

of index of 80 was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, 

and that unmet demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms 

of additional issue of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a 

complete change of policy if it was felt appropriate. This level has been 

accepted as part of the industry standard. However, the index is not a strict 

determinant and care is needed in providing the input samples as well as 

interpreting the result provided. However, the index has various 

components which can also be used to understand what is happening in the 

rank-based and overall licensed vehicle market. 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 

component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 

Page 46



 

 

25 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

demand for Hackney Carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the 

principal inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand 

comes from the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if 

identified unmet demand is significant, or in fact about the value of 

continuing the current policy of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken 

fully in the context of a careful balance of all the evidence gathered during 

the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 

In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 

they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, 

even if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 

where people are observed to have to wait for a Hackney Carriage to arrive. 

The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The 

industry definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 

10:00 to 18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear 

that unmet demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The 

only rider on this component is that the sample of hours collected must 

include a fair element of such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review 

of the potential effect of a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the 

proportion of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average 

passenger wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components 

of the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 

factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all 

passengers in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers 

observed who entered Hackney Carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in 

periods which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should 

normally be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may 

not just be on the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the 

level of supply. This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are 

undertaken when schools are active or not.  

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more Hackney Carriage 

vehicles being available whilst they are not required for school contract 

work. Such periods can also reduce Hackney Carriage demand with people 

away on holiday from the area. Generally, use of Hackney Carriages is 

higher in December in the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, 

February and the parts of July and August when more people are likely to 

Page 47



 

 

26 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

be on holiday. The factor tends to range from 0.8 for December to 1.2 for 

January / February.  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 

although high peaks for tourist traffic use of Hackney Carriages tend not to 

be so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist 

authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 

(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to 

allow for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels 

of peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public 

transport system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours 

a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 

asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up 

waiting for a Hackney Carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor 

generally only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-

one has given up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to 

check that people are quoting legitimate Hackney Carriage rank waits as 

some, despite careful questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which 

must be for a Private Hire Vehicle (even if in Hackney Carriage guise as 

there are few private homes with taxi ranks outside). 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 

and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 

individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, 

the growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet 

demand developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people 

experiencing a queue particularly as the former element is based on any 

wait and not just that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky 

demand profile can tend towards reducing the potential for unmet demand 

to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used 

to feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information 

gathered. Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned 

in regard to significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be 

assumed to be the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence. 

 

York ISUD value encompassing results from all rank surveys 

For the 2017 survey in, York, average passenger delay was 0.90 minutes 

(54 seconds).  

Passenger waiting was observed in 15.94% of off peak periods.     

Page 48



 

 

27 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

32.10% of passengers travelled in hours when there was an average wait 

of over a minute.  

The demand profile did exhibit highly peaked demand, resulting in a factor 

of 0.5 being used.  

The seasonal factor is 1.0.   

The latent demand factor was 1.185.   

Table 2 ISUD Components 

ISUD component 2017 2014 

Average passenger delay 0.90 1.02 

Off peak hours with notable queues(3 or 

more people) 

15.94 4 

% of passengers travelling in hours with 

average queue over a minute 

32.10 9.34 

Seasonal factor 1.0 1.0 

Peak factor 0.5 1.0 

Latent demand factor 1.185 1.114 

Overall ISUD index estimate 272.7 42 

 

The resultant ISUD value of 272.7 is greater than the value of 80 that 

would suggest the observed unmet demand might be significant.  

Consequently, this suggests that there is significant unmet demand.   

It was noted that the majority of passenger waiting, in terms of aggregate 

passenger waiting minutes, occurred at the Railway Station rank.  This rank 

is a private rank and not all drivers are permitted to operate from this rank.  

If the number of Hackney Carriage plates were to be increased, this would 

have no direct effect on the number of Hackney Carriages which are 

permitted to operate at the Railway Station rank.  Therefore, it may be the 

case that the limit on the number of Hackney Carriages which are permitted 

to operate from the Railway Station rank has given rise to a level of unmet 

demand which is significant.  In such cases it is prudent to test the level of 

unmet demand across all public ranks and excluding ranks with a limit.  

Therefore we have also undertaken the ISUD analysis across all ranks 

excluding the Railway Station rank. 

York ISUD value excluding results from the Railway Station rank 

 

Table 3 - ISUD Components, excluding Railway Station 

ISUD component 2017 

Average passenger delay 0.41 

Off peak hours with notable queues(3 or 

more people) 

11.1 

Page 49



 

 

28 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

% of passengers travelling in hours with 

average queue over a minute 

28.88 

Seasonal factor 1.0 

Peak factor 0.5 

Latent demand factor 1.06 

Overall ISUD index estimate 70.3 

 

The resultant ISUD value of 70.3 is lower than the value of 80 that would 

suggest the observed unmet demand might be significant.  Consequently, 

this suggests that there is no significant unmet demand across all public 

ranks.   

ISUD conclusions 

There was evidence of passenger waiting at public ranks.  The degree to 

which passengers had to wait has been analysed in the context of all 

passengers travelling in all time periods.  On public ranks the Hackney 

Carriage fleet was generally able to address demand at peak times, for the 

majority of passengers.  However, at the Railway Station, observed 

passenger waiting occurred more frequently than at the public ranks and 

for longer periods.   

Issues relating to supply were focussed on the Railway Station rank, which 

is constrained by the limit applied to the number of Hackney Carriages 

which may operate from this rank. 

  

Page 50



 

 

29 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

8 Summary and study conclusions 
Public perception of availability of Hackney Carriages identified constraints 

at the Railway Station.  The level of latent unmet demand was gauged by 

the proportion of members of the public who had given up waiting for a 

Hackney Carriage at rank or by hailing and made other arrangements.  The 

level in York was higher than the value derived in most unmet demand 

surveys.  However, the latent unmet demand was focussed primarily on the 

Railway Station rank.  The level of latent unmet demand at other ranks in 

York was within normal levels expected when the demand is generally 

satisfied by the level of available Hackney Carriages.  

There was a strong consensus of opinion that the levels of demand for 

Hackney Carriages increases significantly, when York Racecourse hosts a 

race meeting.  Therefore we can assume with some confidence that the 

rank surveys were conducted during a period which reflects the worst case 

scenario for high demand and the ability of the Hackney Carriage fleet to 

service that demand.   

The restriction regarding which Hackney Carriages may service the Railway 

Station rank places an additional constraint on availability of Hackney 

Carriages, over and above the limit to overall fleet size.  As such, it is 

prudent to assess the level of unmet demand over the public ranks, 

excluding any which are limited.  In York, there is only one limited rank. 

At public ranks, there is no significant unmet demand.   

Public and stakeholder opinion on the general appearance and 

professionalism of the Hackney Carriage fleet is generally good.  Members 

of the public feel safe using Hackney Carriages. 

The level of service at the Railway Station was not rated as highly as the 

city as a whole, based on the levels of latent unmet demand and the 

identification of any issues, by a minority of members of the public. 

Anecdotal feedback suggests that some of the Hackney Carriages which are 

entitled to work from the Railway Station rank may be assigned to service 

pre-booked hires from time to time.  This has had the effect of diluting 

availability of Hackney Carriages at the Railway Station.  As a restricted 

rank, it could be argued that it is for the taxi booking office and the railway 

operator to address any availability issues at the restricted rank.  Any limit 

to availability at this rank is likely to encourage potential passengers to seek 

alternatives such as Uber or other local Private Hire firms.  The high level 

of latent unmet demand indicated at the railway station suggests that there 

is an expectation amongst some travellers that there will frequently be a 

wait for a taxi at the station rank.  Therefore, booking a Private Hire trip, 

from the train, prior to arrival is likely to become a more attractive option.  

This is especially so if the perceived reliability of pre-booked hires is greater 

Page 51



 

 

30 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

than the perceived reliability of obtaining a Hackney Carriage from the 

Railway Station rank.  

There were few issues identified through the data collected from the survey.  

The most prevalent issues raised by the trade was an influx of out of area 

licensed vehicles, including Uber branded vehicles.  The public perception 

of poor service at the Railway Station rank may help to sustain and fuel 

growth of Private Hire services at the expense of Hackney Carriage 

provision. 

Public and stakeholder perception of the Hackney Carriage fleet was 

generally good, with the exception of availability at the Railway Station. 

  

Page 52



 

 

31 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

9 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered, our key conclusion is that there is 

that under extreme conditions, the Hackney Carriage fleet catered for the 

levels of demand which were evident.  Across the public ranks the Index of 

Significant Unmet Demand (ISUD) was below the threshold which would 

suggest it was significant.  It is considered likely that on a ‘normal busy 

weekend’ the ISUD value would be lower still.   

It is concluded that there is no significant unmet demand.  

Whilst the licensing authority are free to choose to retain or remove a limit 

on Hackney Carriage licenses and to set a limit at whatever level they see 

fit, the conclusion of this report is that there is no need to issue more 

licenses to satisfy current levels of demand. 

  

Page 53



 

 

32 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

Appendix A Rank Survey Data 
 

 

  

Page 54



 

 

33 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, total passengers 

The total number of passengers using each rank, during each hour, is 

summarised in the following table.  The total includes both those 

passengers who arrived at the ranks and hired a waiting Hackney Carriage 

immediately and those passengers who arrived at a rank and had to wait 

for a Hackney Carriage to arrive at the rank and pick up waiting 

passengers.   

Page 55



 

 

34 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

 

35 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, total Hackney Carriages departing with passengers 

The number of Hackney Carriages which departed from each rank with 

passengers on board, is summarised for each hour.  The totals exclude 

Hackney Carriages which waited at the ranks but which left the ranks 

empty, without having picked up any passengers. 

Page 57



 

 

36 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

37 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, total Hackney Carriages departing empty 

The following table summarises the total number of Hackney Carriages 

which departed the ranks empty, during each hour.  i.e. without picking 

up any passengers.  The Hackney Carriages which departed empty, waited 

at the ranks then having failed to be hired, left the rank after waiting.  

The reasons for leaving empty can vary, and may include moving on to 

another rank to wait for a fare. 

Page 59



 

 

38 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Hour Beginning

Duncombe 

Place

St 

Saviourgate

Rougier 

Steet

St Sampsons 

Square
Toft Green York Station 

Aggregated 

across all 

ranks

Thursday 14:00 2 2 4

Thursday 15:00 1 1

Thursday 16:00 1 1

Thursday 17:00 1 2 3

Thursday 18:00

Thursday 19:00 1 1

Thursday 20:00 1 1

Thursday 21:00 1 1

Thursday 22:00 3 3

Thursday 23:00

Friday 00:00 2 3 5

Friday 01:00 2 1 3

Friday 02:00 1 3 4

Friday 03:00 6 2 8

Friday 04:00 2 1 3

Friday 05:00 1 5 6

Friday 06:00 1 6 7

Friday 07:00 2 2

Friday 08:00

Friday 09:00 1 1

Friday 10:00

Friday 11:00 8 8

Friday 12:00 2 1 3

Friday 13:00 1 1 2

Friday 14:00 1 2 3

Friday 15:00

Friday 16:00 1 3 4

Friday 17:00 1 2 3 6

Friday 18:00 2 2 4

Friday 19:00 1 1 2

Friday 20:00 1 1

Friday 21:00 1 1 2

Friday 22:00 3 3

Friday 23:00 2 2 4

Saturday 00:00 2 2

Saturday 01:00 1 2 3 6

Saturday 02:00 1 5 3 9

Saturday 03:00 1 4 1 6

Saturday 04:00 2 1 3

Saturday 05:00 2 2

Saturday 06:00 1 1

Saturday 07:00 8 8

Saturday 08:00 1 3 4

Saturday 09:00 1 6 7

Saturday 10:00

Saturday 11:00 2 2

Saturday 12:00

Saturday 13:00 1 1

Saturday 14:00 2 2 1 5

Saturday 15:00 1 1

Saturday 16:00 1 4 5

Saturday 17:00

Saturday 18:00 1 1 2

Saturday 19:00

Saturday 20:00 1 1

Saturday 21:00 1 1

Saturday 22:00

Saturday 23:00 1 1

Sunday 00:00

Sunday 01:00

Sunday 02:00 1 1 2

Sunday 03:00 1 1

Sunday 04:00 1 2 3

Sunday 05:00 6 1 7

Sunday 06:00 2 2

Total Hackney Carriages departing ranks empty

Page 60



 

 

39 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, average vehicle wait times at ranks 

The time that Hackney Carriages spent waiting at the ranks, for 

passengers to arrive was recorded.  The average waiting time per vehicle 

during each hour is presented in the following table 

Page 61



 

 

40 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Hour Beginning

Duncombe 

Place

St 

Saviourgate

Rougier 

Steet

St Sampsons 

Square
Toft Green York Station 

Thursday 14:00 00:09 00:10 00:01

Thursday 15:00 00:03 00:03 00:05

Thursday 16:00 00:03 00:17 00:09

Thursday 17:00 00:05 00:13 00:02

Thursday 18:00 00:03 00:07 00:01

Thursday 19:00 00:08 00:02

Thursday 20:00 00:09 00:05

Thursday 21:00 00:17 00:05

Thursday 22:00 00:07 00:08

Thursday 23:00 00:08 00:06

Friday 00:00 00:07 00:13

Friday 01:00 00:22 00:07

Friday 02:00 00:19 00:05

Friday 03:00 00:35 00:26

Friday 04:00 00:05 00:16

Friday 05:00 00:21 00:21

Friday 06:00 00:24

Friday 07:00 00:43

Friday 08:00 00:18

Friday 09:00 00:05

Friday 10:00 00:15 00:03

Friday 11:00 00:22 00:04

Friday 12:00 00:04 00:06

Friday 13:00 00:01 00:02 00:12

Friday 14:00 00:05 00:10 00:08

Friday 15:00 00:01 00:03 00:05

Friday 16:00 00:00 00:02 00:05

Friday 17:00 00:00 00:02 00:05

Friday 18:00 00:01 00:02 00:04

Friday 19:00 00:03 00:01 00:05

Friday 20:00 00:06 00:08 00:07

Friday 21:00 00:06 00:02 00:04

Friday 22:00 00:02 00:01 00:00 00:10

Friday 23:00 00:01 00:00 00:00 00:04

Saturday 00:00 00:02 00:01 00:01 00:05

Saturday 01:00 00:07 00:07 00:04 00:08

Saturday 02:00 00:06 00:10 00:05

Saturday 03:00 00:01 00:02 00:03

Saturday 04:00 00:06 00:00 00:03

Saturday 05:00 00:02

Saturday 06:00 00:03

Saturday 07:00 00:04

Saturday 08:00 00:03 00:16

Saturday 09:00 00:08

Saturday 10:00 00:10 00:13

Saturday 11:00 00:06 00:02

Saturday 12:00 00:01 00:01 00:01

Saturday 13:00 00:02 00:01 00:01

Saturday 14:00 00:11 00:03 00:06

Saturday 15:00 00:09 00:07 00:06

Saturday 16:00 00:02 00:03 00:09

Saturday 17:00 00:01 00:01 00:03

Saturday 18:00 00:01 00:00 00:02

Saturday 19:00 00:00 00:00 00:01

Saturday 20:00 00:01 00:01 00:01

Saturday 21:00 00:01 00:00 00:07

Saturday 22:00 00:00 00:00 00:06 00:01

Saturday 23:00 00:00 00:00 00:01 00:00

Sunday 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:00

Sunday 01:00 00:00 00:00 00:02 00:00

Sunday 02:00 00:00 00:00 00:04 00:01

Sunday 03:00 00:00 00:00 00:07 00:01

Sunday 04:00 00:00 00:00 00:00 00:01

Sunday 05:00 00:03 00:12

Sunday 06:00 00:08

Hackney Carriage average vehicle wait times (HH:MM)

Page 62



 

 

41 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, total waiting passengers 

Most passengers who hired Hackney Carriages from the ranks were able 

to hire a waiting Hackney Carriage, without delay.  However, some 

passengers had to wait at the rank for a Hackney Carriage to arrive and 

pick them up.  The number of passengers in each hour who had to wait 

for a Hackney Carriage to arrive at the rank, is summarised in the 

following table. 

Page 63



 

 

42 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Hour Beginning

Duncombe 

Place

St 

Saviourgate

Rougier 

Steet

St Sampsons 

Square
Toft Green York Station 

Thursday 14:00 1

Thursday 15:00 6 7 12

Thursday 16:00 1 19

Thursday 17:00 2 1 42

Thursday 18:00 6 4 79

Thursday 19:00 2 65

Thursday 20:00

Thursday 21:00

Thursday 22:00 8

Thursday 23:00 1 2

Friday 00:00

Friday 01:00

Friday 02:00

Friday 03:00

Friday 04:00 7

Friday 05:00

Friday 06:00 3

Friday 07:00

Friday 08:00

Friday 09:00 19

Friday 10:00 21

Friday 11:00 23

Friday 12:00 16 5

Friday 13:00 6 5

Friday 14:00 2 4

Friday 15:00 2 12 6

Friday 16:00 7 10 5

Friday 17:00 2 7 8

Friday 18:00 12 15

Friday 19:00 14 38 6

Friday 20:00 20 16 15

Friday 21:00 37 5

Friday 22:00 28 55

Friday 23:00 157 111 11

Saturday 00:00 88 49 4

Saturday 01:00 8 1

Saturday 02:00

Saturday 03:00 75 3

Saturday 04:00 21 15

Saturday 05:00 4

Saturday 06:00

Saturday 07:00 2

Saturday 08:00

Saturday 09:00 7

Saturday 10:00 3 47

Saturday 11:00 5 144

Saturday 12:00 23 146

Saturday 13:00 15 147

Saturday 14:00 1 37

Saturday 15:00 5 3 4

Saturday 16:00 16 33 20

Saturday 17:00 31 19 45

Saturday 18:00 8 26 79

Saturday 19:00 23 27 71

Saturday 20:00 16 37 133

Saturday 21:00 3 6 24

Saturday 22:00 16 88

Saturday 23:00 57 3 150

Sunday 00:00 28 16 134

Sunday 01:00 69

Sunday 02:00 12 23 84

Sunday 03:00 29 18 45

Sunday 04:00 14 17 26

Sunday 05:00 4

Sunday 06:00 3

Total waiting passengers 

Page 64



 

 

43 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, Estimated number of vehicles operating from ranks 

For each observed hour, the mean number of waiting Hackney Carriages 

at each rank, together with the number of Hackney Carriages hired at 

each rank was analysed.  The data was used to generate an estimate of 

the mean number of Hackney Carriages which were undertaking rank hire 

work during each hour.   

The analysis was undertaken for all ranks and for all ranks excluding the 

Railway Station. 

The following table presents the mean estimate of the number of Hackney 

Carriages observed working from the ranks during each hour. 

Page 65



 

 

44 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Hour Beginning All ranks

All ranks excluding 

railway station

Thursday 14:00 37 20

Thursday 15:00 43 20

Thursday 16:00 41 19

Thursday 17:00 41 21

Thursday 18:00 48 19

Thursday 19:00 53 16

Thursday 20:00 48 15

Thursday 21:00 51 21

Thursday 22:00 48 25

Thursday 23:00 51 27

Friday 00:00 53 26

Friday 01:00 33 19

Friday 02:00 26 16

Friday 03:00 15 12

Friday 04:00 11 8

Friday 05:00 10 2

Friday 06:00 14 2

Friday 07:00 19 2

Friday 08:00 30 3

Friday 09:00 40 3

Friday 10:00 50 6

Friday 11:00 69 14

Friday 12:00 64 10

Friday 13:00 82 28

Friday 14:00 86 30

Friday 15:00 47 18

Friday 16:00 43 15

Friday 17:00 44 17

Friday 18:00 46 18

Friday 19:00 60 29

Friday 20:00 87 42

Friday 21:00 89 49

Friday 22:00 104 60

Friday 23:00 106 68

Saturday 00:00 94 72

Saturday 01:00 73 58

Saturday 02:00 56 56

Saturday 03:00 42 42

Saturday 04:00 21 21

Saturday 05:00 3 3

Saturday 06:00 0 0

Saturday 07:00 13 1

Saturday 08:00 18 1

Saturday 09:00 24 0

Saturday 10:00 45 3

Saturday 11:00 38 7

Saturday 12:00 43 16

Saturday 13:00 47 14

Saturday 14:00 58 22

Saturday 15:00 52 23

Saturday 16:00 50 16

Saturday 17:00 40 21

Saturday 18:00 39 23

Saturday 19:00 51 28

Saturday 20:00 89 52

Saturday 21:00 100 63

Saturday 22:00 101 72

Saturday 23:00 88 63

Sunday 00:00 79 55

Sunday 01:00 67 49

Sunday 02:00 66 51

Sunday 03:00 54 44

Sunday 04:00 34 26

Sunday 05:00 18 15

Sunday 06:00 9 5

Estimated number of vehicles operating from ranks

Page 66



 

 

45 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

York ranks, Estimated proportion of the fleet operating from the 

ranks 

The following table presents an estimate of the proportion of the total fleet 

of Hackney Carriages observed working from the taxi ranks during each 

hour.   

Page 67



 

 

46 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

 

 

 

Hour Beginning All ranks

All ranks excluding 

railway station

Thursday 14:00 20% 11%

Thursday 15:00 23% 11%

Thursday 16:00 23% 10%

Thursday 17:00 22% 12%

Thursday 18:00 26% 10%

Thursday 19:00 29% 9%

Thursday 20:00 26% 8%

Thursday 21:00 28% 12%

Thursday 22:00 26% 14%

Thursday 23:00 28% 15%

Friday 00:00 29% 14%

Friday 01:00 18% 10%

Friday 02:00 14% 9%

Friday 03:00 8% 6%

Friday 04:00 6% 4%

Friday 05:00 6% 1%

Friday 06:00 8% 1%

Friday 07:00 10% 1%

Friday 08:00 16% 2%

Friday 09:00 22% 2%

Friday 10:00 27% 3%

Friday 11:00 38% 7%

Friday 12:00 35% 5%

Friday 13:00 45% 15%

Friday 14:00 47% 16%

Friday 15:00 26% 10%

Friday 16:00 23% 8%

Friday 17:00 24% 9%

Friday 18:00 25% 10%

Friday 19:00 33% 16%

Friday 20:00 48% 23%

Friday 21:00 48% 27%

Friday 22:00 57% 33%

Friday 23:00 58% 37%

Saturday 00:00 51% 39%

Saturday 01:00 40% 32%

Saturday 02:00 30% 30%

Saturday 03:00 23% 23%

Saturday 04:00 12% 12%

Saturday 05:00 1% 1%

Saturday 06:00 0% 0%

Saturday 07:00 7% 1%

Saturday 08:00 10% 1%

Saturday 09:00 13% 0%

Saturday 10:00 25% 2%

Saturday 11:00 21% 4%

Saturday 12:00 23% 9%

Saturday 13:00 26% 8%

Saturday 14:00 32% 12%

Saturday 15:00 28% 12%

Saturday 16:00 27% 9%

Saturday 17:00 22% 11%

Saturday 18:00 21% 13%

Saturday 19:00 28% 15%

Saturday 20:00 49% 28%

Saturday 21:00 55% 35%

Saturday 22:00 55% 39%

Saturday 23:00 48% 34%

Sunday 00:00 43% 30%

Sunday 01:00 36% 27%

Sunday 02:00 36% 28%

Sunday 03:00 30% 24%

Sunday 04:00 19% 14%

Sunday 05:00 10% 8%

Sunday 06:00 5% 3%

Estimated Proportion of fleet operating from ranks

Page 68


	Agenda
	3 Unmet Demand Survey
	Annex 1 York Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 2017 190218


